
 MBCSD Agenda 1-29-2025 

MUIR BEACH COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT
19 Seacape Drive  Muir Beach, CA 94965  415 383 9969  www.muirbeachcsd.com 

AGENDA 

     Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Wednesday, January 29, 2025   7:00 PM 

Meeting held by Teleconference 

Agenda will be emailed and posted 

Zoom invitation will be emailed  

MEETINGS BY ZOOM: Gov. Code section 54953(b provides that local agencies such as the Muir Beach Community 

Services District may hold its meetings using teleconferencing services, such as Zoom if certain conditions are complied 

with, all of which have been met by the MBCSD.  As such, the District will email Zoom invitations to all residents and other 

members of the public asking to participate in the meetings, which will also include a dial-in option using your telephone.  

Please participate from your own locations/homes, however, if needed (and as required by the code), you may participate 

from the homes of the members of the Board of Directors, being 240 Pacific Way, 1821 Shoreline Hwy, 40 Sunset Way, 209 

Sunset Way, and 23 Starbuck Drive where the meeting agenda will be available. 

TIMING OF AGENDA ITEMS:   The Board attempts to hear all items in order as stated on the agenda, however it reserves 

the right to take items out of the order listed at any time during the course of the meeting.  The following items will be 

considered, and any item can be discussed, acted upon, or approved during the course of the meeting. 

SPECIAL NEEDS:   In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in 

this meeting, please contact the District Manager at 415-388-7804.  Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable 

the District to make reasonable arrangements to ensure participation in the meeting. 

7:00 pm Item 1: Call to Order 

Board: Leighton Hills (Board President), Christine Murray (Board Vice-President), Steven Shaffer (Director), 

David Taylor (Director), and Nikola Tede (Director) 

Staff: Mary Halley (District Manager), Chris Gove (Fire Chief), Ernst Karel (Meeting Secretary) 

Item 2: Approval of Agenda 

The following item or items were not included in this agenda, along with the reason for not being 

included.  Pursuant to the Bylaws of the Muir Beach Community Services District, the Board of Directors may 

now by motion require that the item or items be added back to this meeting’s agenda.  Should the item or items 

require research or preparation by staff or by member(s) of the Board of Directors in order to be properly 

heard, the item or items may be deferred to a subsequent meeting.  The motion to approve this agenda may be 

without change or may be to re-include any item or items listed below. 

Item(s) not included in this agenda: 

Item 3: Election of Board Officers (as needed) 

Board will elect a Board President and Vice President. 

Article 2.3 of the CSD Bylaws (available on the CSD website) provides: “The Board President and Board Vice 

President shall be elected at the first meeting of the calendar year or at another subsequent meeting as 

determined by the Board of Directors. The term of office shall commence upon election and shall continue for 

Board Packet Page 1



                                                                                                                                             MBCSD Agenda 1-29-2025 

 

one year and until his/her successor is elected and takes office.” 

 

The Election of Officers will proceed accordingly: 

 

(1) Nominations – Candidate(s) for Board President should be nominated by any one or 

more Directors. 

(2) Motion to Close Nominations – A motion should then be made to close the nominations, 

seconded and voted upon. 

(3) Vote – The Board President should then call a vote for or against each nominated candidate, 

and declare the outcome of the election. 

The process should be repeated for the Board Vice President. 

The elected Board President should chair the remainder of the meeting. 

 

 Item 4: Consent Calendar  

 
All items on the Consent Calendar are considered to be either routine or non-controversial and will be enacted 

by a single blanket action of the Board.  Upon request from a Board member or any member of the public, 

individual items may be removed from the Consent Calendar in which case they will be discussed in the meeting 

(under Items Removed from the Consent Calendar). 

A. Approval of Quarterly Financial Reports dated 12/31/24. (See attached) 

B. Approval of Draft Minutes from Regular Board Meeting on 10/10/24. (See attached) 

C. Approval of Draft-Audits FY 2023-24 (See at http://muirbeachcsd.com/wp-

content/uploads/2025/01/Audit_MBCSD-Draft-Audit-Report-6.30.24.pdf) 

 

 Item 5: Items Removed from Consent Calendar   

 
Items moved from the Consent Calendar to the Regular Agenda, if any. 

 

 Item 6: MBCC – Alexis Chase/Lisa Eigsti/Laurie Piel/Steve Shaffer  

 

A. MBCC Event Budget Rate Increase – Alexis Chase/Lisa Eigsti 

There are three major events that currently have a budget of $1600 each year per event.  The community 

sponsors for those events have found that it has been getting more expensive to put on the events and would like 

to ask the Board to consider increasing the budget for those three events. 

 

B. MBCC Deck Window Closures – Laurie Piel/Steve Shaffer 

The current canvas deck curtains have been getting torn up by the winter wind events.  Laurie and Steve would 

like to discuss options to make the MBCC deck more weatherproof to be able to give the members of the 

community more options/opportunities to utilize the deck space.  

 

C. MBCC Recycle Policy and Cleaning Equipment – Lisa Eigsti 

Resident Lisa Eigsti has requested to discuss including the wording in the Community Center rental agreement 

that we are an “earth friendly community” and that the renter agrees to NO SINGLE USE PLASTIC, or 

balloons, single use plastic decorations. Use of bamboo, compostable or actual dishes and real silverware should 

be what’s normalized. She would also like to see a dishwasher be set up in the barely used space off the kitchen 

(aka Old kids room) and this room could also store extra dishes, table cloths, and the like. 

 

 Item 7: Fire Department Report – Fire Chief Chris Gove   

 

Fire Chief Chris Gove will answer any questions regarding his attached Fire Department report. (See attached) 

Board Packet Page 2



                                                                                                                                             MBCSD Agenda 1-29-2025 

 

 

 Item 8: MWPA Presentation of Hwy 1 Southbound Evacuation Corridor – Steven Peters   

 

Marin Wildfire Prevention Authority (MWPA) Vegetation Management Specialist (VMS) Steven Peters will 

give a presentation of the Hwy 1 Southbound Evacuation Route Clearence Project.  This vegetation clearing will 

take place in the Caltrans right-away at the foot of many Starbuck properties.  Our MBVFD Fire department will 

be working with those property owners separately as well.  Work could start as early as this March 2025. 

 

 Item 9: Clearing Vegetation along Upper Park Trail – Jeff Swarts   

 

Muir Beach resident Jeff Swarts has requested that the CSD consider clearing the brush along the community 

path between Seacape and Starbuck. Jeff states, “that other residents have also expressed concern for this fire 

hazard. If residents have privacy concerns, they should be requested to plant along their property line, but the 

community path should be cleared to create a firebreak.”  He believes that “this is also a possible matter of 

liability for the CSD if its jurisdiction isn’t properly maintained.”  And, has also “seen a chipper mulching 

machine deployed in the Tahoe forests for this purpose. It seems fast and effective grinding all the vegetation up 

and leaving the chips on the ground to help preserve moisture in the soil.”  Jeff also states, “having witnessed 

the Oakland hills fire, I am concerned about a carelessly thrown cigarette from a passing vehicle on Hwy 1 or a 

sparking trailer chain pushing flames up into our neighborhood when the Diablo winds are blowing in the fall.” 

 

 Item 10: NPS Redwood Creek New Gauge Monitoring – Leighton Hills  

 

At the 10/10/24 Board meeting, the CSD Board directed Director Leighton Hills to look into the CSD having its 

own Redwood Creek measuring device verses sharing the cost with the NPS for the USGS creek monitoring 

system.  Leighton will present a review of his findings and recommendations. 

 

 Item 11: District Manager Report – Mary Halley                          

  

District Manager Mary Halley will present brief highlights from her DM report. (See attached) 

 

 Item 12: Proposed Water Rate Increase for Consideration – Mary Halley  

 

The District’s ability and procedures for setting water rates is regulated by Prop 218 under CA Civil Code.  

Water rate ordinances and rates can be extended by a maximum of 5-years.  District Manager Mary Halley will 

present the current status of Water Department revenues, expenses, use trends, and the financial situation of the 

District’s Water Dept, then provide her recommendation for rate increase to be considered and implemented in 

the near future. 

 
 Item 13: Proposal to change General Legal Counsel from Marin County Counsel to Emily Longfellow 

currently at Epstein Holtzapple Christo – David Taylor 

     

 

Marin County allows local agencies such as us to use members of its legal staff, so called County Counsel, and 

then charges the agencies market rates for the time used.  A limited number of local governments in Marin use 

this service.  Representatives assigned to us change periodically.  The District used Emily Longfellow, a 

specialist in small governmental work, presently at Epstein Holtzapple Christo, for the roads and easements 

research conducted recently, as well as for issues regarding taking over responsibility for Charlotte’s Way.  Our 

experience was excellent with Emily.  Directors Leighton Hills, and David Taylor recommend that the District , 

as a matter of course, change from using County Counsel to using Emily Longfellow for general legal advice as 

needed. 

 

Board Packet Page 3



                                                                                                                                             MBCSD Agenda 1-29-2025 

 

 Item 14: Public Open Time  

 
Please note: 

1. Topics should be within the jurisdiction of the CSD (Water, Roads, Fire Protection, & Recreation). 

2.  The topic should not be elsewhere on the agenda. 

3. The Board and staff may only briefly respond to statements and questions (i.e. the legal requirement for items 

not posted on an agenda which otherwise informs community members that a topic is up for discussion 

and/or action.) 

4.  Public comments are limited to 3 minutes per speaker, unless waived by the Board. 

5. The period for public open time is limited to 10 minutes, unless waived by the Board. 

 

 Item 15: Recognitions & Board Member Items                            

 
Board member recognitions and pending events of interest to the community. 

 

 Item 16: Next Meeting Date and Adjournment                           

 

Next Board Meeting Date: Wednesday, March 26, 2025 

Board Packet Page 4



Board Packet Page 5



Board Packet Page 6



Board Packet Page 7



Board Packet Page 8



Board Packet Page 9



Board Packet Page 10



Board Packet Page 11



Board Packet Page 12



Board Packet Page 13



Board Packet Page 14



Board Packet Page 15



Board Packet Page 16



Board Packet Page 17



Board Packet Page 18



Board Packet Page 19



1 

MUIR BEACH COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 1 
Minutes of the Board of Directors’ meeting held on 2 

Thursday, October 10, 2024 3 
 4 

OFFICIAL MINUTES ONLY UPON APPROVAL 5 
 6 
Prior to approval of these minutes by the Board of Directors in a public meeting, these minutes are 7 
draft only and subject to change. Upon approval by the Board, these minutes become the Official 8 
Minutes of the meeting.  9 
 10 
Item 1: Call to Order  11 
Meeting is called to order at 7:05. 12 
 13 
Board:   Leighton Hills (Board President), Christine Murray (Board Vice President), Steven Shaffer 14 
(Director), David Taylor (Director), Nikola Tede (Director) 15 
Staff: Mary Halley (District Manager), Chris Gove (Fire Chief)  16 
 17 
Item 2: Approval of Agenda  18 
Item(s) not included in this agenda: A report on Muir Beach Lan was not included as it is not in the 19 
CSD’s jurisdiction. 20 
 21 
  MOTION: That the agenda is approved as submitted. 22 
  Moved:  Tede, seconded by Taylor 23 
  Vote:   AYES: Unanimous. 24 
 25 
Item 3: Consent Calendar 26 
A. Approval of Quarterly Financial Reports dated 9/30/24. (See attached) 27 
B. Approval of Draft Minutes from Regular Board Meeting on 7/24/24. (See attached) 28 
 29 
 MOTION:  To approve the consent calendar. 30 
 Moved:  Taylor, seconded by Tede 31 
 Vote:   AYES: Unanimous. 32 
 33 
Item 4: Items Removed from Consent Calendar 34 
None 35 
 36 
Item 5: NPS Redwood Creek Update and USGS New Guage Monitoring 37 
Darren Fong, Aquatic Ecologist for the GGNRA for the past 30 years, gives an update on the status of 38 
various aquatic critters in Redwood Creek and streamflow monitoring. Darren presents the NPS 39 
request for the CSD Water District to contribute 50% of the annual USGS gauge monitoring fee of 40 
$27,880 (CSD share $13,940) for the continuation of monitoring using the current gauge in the 41 
Redwood Creek located at the Muir Beach Highway 1 Bridge.  42 
 43 
Darren Fong’s full presentation, and subsequent discussion, can be heard on the recording 44 
available at https://muirbeachcsd.com/meetings/ , from 01:57 to 38:00.  45 
 46 
His presentation covers important species found within the Redwood Creek Watershed, which is a 47 
biodiversity hotspot. These include the California red-legged frog, the pond turtle (see 48 
https://baynature.org/article/if-turtles-could-talk/), and the California tidewater goby. Their habitats are 49 

Board Packet Page 20

https://muirbeachcsd.com/meetings/
https://baynature.org/article/if-turtles-could-talk/


2 

affected by the water levels in Redwood Creek, which the USGS monitoring helps track, including 1 
showing clear effects on water level from the pumping conducted by the Muir Beach Community 2 
Services District. 3 
 4 
He also addresses issues in creek flow which are beneficial to habitat but create a problem for 5 
property-owners. They are working with Carolyn Shoulders to find a solution. For the winter there will 6 
be a bypass channel for water to flow through.  7 
 8 
The park has been left as the only contributor to the cost of the gauge, which they can’t afford 9 
anymore, and so that’s why they’re asking the MBCSD to contribute to this valuable service.  10 
 11 
Murray asks for clarification about a graph, which Fong explains shows that when the pumps are on, 12 
there is a lag time where there is not a response at the creek, and then after a lag time we can see a 13 
response at the Hwy 1 gauge, which is significant enough that it is measurable. In the winter you don’t 14 
see anything due to the noise and high flow, but when flow is lower, it’s a measurable difference. 15 
Discussion continues with the suggestion that it may be worth experimenting further with spreading 16 
out pumping, pumping shorter periods spread throughout the day and night, rather than simply 17 
pumping all night, under certain creek conditions. 18 
 19 
Item 7: Adoption of Special Creek Monitoring Fee 20 
The NPS is asking the Water District to contribute 50% of the annual USGS gauge monitoring fee of 21 
$27,880 (CSD share $13,940). For the District to be able to accommodate this additional cost, the 22 
District would need to consider including an additional Special Creek Management Fee of $87.67 per 23 
meter (or $14.61 p/bi-monthly billing) to go into effect immediately starting retroactively with the 7/16 24 
billing with 3 installments being paid with the 11/16 billing (3x14.61=$43.83) to make sure we can fully 25 
cover the first year of this new annual cost. 26 
 27 
Discussion about the extremely high water use at the Pelican Inn (70,000 gal/month) and possible 28 
approaches to that, including whether they could contribute particularly to this fee, or the option of 29 
opening our other well site for untreated water for landscaping purposes.  30 
  31 
Hills is hesitant to contribute to this cost, and wonders if there are other ways to monitor this, such as 32 
installing our own pressure sensor at David Taylor’s house. Discussion continues about whether or 33 
not to contribute to this fee. Hills will address additional questions to Darren Fong and we can in the 34 
meantime pursue alternatives. 35 
 36 
Item 5: Fire Department Report – Fire Chief Chris Gove  37 
Fire Chief Chris Gove gives his quarterly report including Firehouse update. (See attached.)  38 
 39 
ACTIVITY 40 
 There have been 43 calls year to date.  41 
 We completed the intensive weekend training in Pt. Reyes. It was a great opportunity to train 42 
alongside professionals and learn new skills working in training environments that are new to us.  43 
 We participated in the countywide Sidewalk CPR program in August and trained over 50 people 44 
and dispensed Narcan and fentanyl test kits. 45 
 The MERA Gen 2 radio system went live on October 3rd. This is new system includes the 46 
MERA radio tower at the Overlook. The county dispatch system has been re-organized, and we are 47 
familiarizing our team with how that operates. This upgrade included a new set of compatible pagers 48 
for each volunteer to keep at home. When the 911 system is activated, we receive notifications on our 49 

Board Packet Page 21



3 

phones via SMS and via an app called Tablet Command as well as on the pagers – pagers work even 1 
where there is no cell signal. 2 
 We also received a generous donation from Zendesk. This company contacted us to donate 3 
equipment as they were moving to a new office building. We received a wide range of emergency 4 
medical and disaster supplies including a number of AED’s. This could improve our response time for 5 
cardiac arrest as each volunteer will have an AED and medical bag in their personal vehicle. We will 6 
train on the new equipment and have ordered new power supplies and pads. 7 
 As part of a Marin County EMS grant, we are receiving a Lucas automated CPR device 8 
(https://www.lucas-cpr.com) This will also enhance our capacity to support individuals in cardiac 9 
arrest. We have started training on this device this week. 10 
FIREHOUSE 11 
 Our permit is still pending with the county. It is a very slow process. The county has requested 12 
additional information from the soils and civil engineers on the project and there have been 13 
considerable delays in obtaining the necessary responses from the engineering teams. The process 14 
can only resume once a complete set of responses is re-submitted. One remaining item is pending 15 
from an engineer. It cannot be done piecemeal. 16 
 Once we have the permit, we can make the next payment to the building construction company 17 
and move forward. 18 
FIREWISE 19 
 The PG&E grant funds were used to remove several dead trees on Sunset and Pacific Way. 20 
There is one remaining chipper event this year. The community has removed many tons of debris this 21 
year and we applaud them. 22 
BBQ 23 
 The last BBQ had a profit of over $74,000 and we are in the planning stage for the next one. 24 
DISASTER COUNCIL 25 
 The group is planning an event October 20th called STAY BOX to discuss the supply’s you 26 
should have on hand in case you must shelter in place for a time. 27 
MWPA 28 
 We expect that work will begin on the Southbound side of the Hwy 1 evacuation corridor later in 29 
2024 or in 2025. This is the portion of the highway between Muir Beach Overlook and Sunset Way on 30 
the slope that rises from the Banducci Ranch property and is a high fire risk area. The overall project 31 
stretches in segments from Inverness to Muir Beach. This phase is anticipated to be an initial limited 32 
clearance of up to 25 feet from the roadway – mostly in the CalTrans Right of Way. We will work with 33 
every property owner adjacent to the ROW in case there is a benefit to do fuel reduction. No work will 34 
be conducted without an individually signed Right to Enter agreement and a discussion between 35 
homeowner and MWPA vegetation management specialist about what areas would be treated. 36 
 Please see attached detailed FAQ document regarding this project. 37 
 In addition, PG&E hopes to secure approval to remove a dozen dead Monterey pines from the 38 
Audubon Canyon Ranch Terwilliger site – this could happen before the storm season. MWPA is 39 
working together with Audubon and PG&E to support this important hazard tree removal. 40 
 41 
Item 8: Revisions to Marin Wildfire’s JPA Agreement – Chris Gove/David Taylor/ Christine Murray 42 
Marin Wildfire Protection Authority (MWPA) was created when 17 local Marin agencies with fire 43 
prevention responsibility entered into a joint exercise of powers agreement and the voters adopted a 44 
tax measure to fund the agency in March 2020. Thanks to the efforts of the drafters of the original 45 
agreement, the document has provided a solid and efficient structure for the agency. During the four 46 
years that the agreement has been in use, member agencies and Marin Wildfire staff have noted 47 
several provisions that would benefit from revision. These three areas are the most significant 48 
revisions: Section 3. Membership / Section 7. Advisory Technical Committee / Section 9(c). Funding 49 

Board Packet Page 22



4 

(See attached MWPA Amendment Agenda Item). To take effect, the Amended JPA Agreement must 1 
be executed by three-fourths of the governing boards of the Marin Wildfire member agencies 2 
(Amended JPA Agreement § 21) and for which the MBVFD is a member. Accordingly, the 3 
amendments are being presented to this body for approval. (See attached Proposed JPA 4 
Amendments for Member Agencies Clean for Signature) 5 
 6 
Murray reports that it’s a very straightforward, noncontroversial set of changes. 7 
 8 
 MOTION:  That we approve the revisions to the MWPA’s JPA agreement. 9 
 Moved:  Murray, seconded by Taylor 10 
 Vote:   AYES: Unanimous. 11 
 12 
Item 9: District Cybersecurity – Christine Murray Cybersecurity Ad hoc subcommittee to provide a 13 
brief progress report on this continuing research project.  14 
We received an assessment back from the Department of Homeland Security and they have made 15 
some recommendations. Murray and Hills and Halley will discuss in private. 16 
 17 
Item 10: District Manager Report – Mary Halley A. District Manager Mary Halley will present brief 18 
highlights from her DM report (see attached). Her report as always is available in full as part of each 19 
meeting packet at https://muirbeachcsd.com/meetings/ .  20 
 21 
Item 11: Request for New Footpath along Highway 1 from Seacape to Sunset – Linda Caplinger 22 
Resident Linda Caplinger from White Way is requesting the MB Board to consider the construction of 23 
a safe footpath from Shoreline/Seacape south to Shoreline/Sunset using the right-of-way along 24 
Shoreline Highway. The Board will first need to investigate the ability to obtain a Caltrans 25 
Encroachment Permit for such a project, and the legality of the CSD building and maintaining a 26 
footpath that is not in a District easement, and also budget constraints as many other existing 27 
footpaths and trails are still waiting for funding to become available for those repairs and 28 
improvements. 29 
 30 
Linda Caplinger noticed in a July 2007 issue of the Beachcomber that there used to be public access 31 
to the steps to the Community Center, but the current owners there will not allow that access. 32 
Caplinger, and also the owners at 4 White Way, feel they are a kind of island and would love to have 33 
a safe way to get down to the beach or up to the Community Center.  Idea is a footpath so that people 34 
on White Way and people at the beginning of Sunset would have a safe way to get up, which could 35 
also provide a firebreak for the Hamilton property. 36 
 37 
Hills: CalTrans right of way is typically 60 feet, and the pavement is much less than that, so it could 38 
work. Hills asks Caplinger to inquire with CalTrans about the possibilities. As a water district, we may 39 
not have a right to put in a walkway, but they might accept it, nonetheless. Hills will provide a contact 40 
person for her to continue that research. Discussion continues as to other factors, such as Coastal 41 
Commission, where the right-of-way falls, and potential costs. Hills indicates that the CSD would 42 
support the project, but that neighbors may be asked to raise funds themselves.  43 
 44 
Item 12: Public Open Time  45 
None 46 
 47 
Item 13: Recognitions & Board Member Items 48 
None 49 

Board Packet Page 23

https://muirbeachcsd.com/meetings/


5 

 1 
Item 14: Next Meeting Date and Adjournment 2 
Next Board Meeting Date: January 29, 2024.  3 
 4 
There being no further business to come before the board, the meeting is adjourned. 5 
Meeting adjourned at 8:30 pm. 6 

Board Packet Page 24



MBCSD January 29, 2025 

FIRE DEPARTMENT REPORT 

DISASTER PREPAREDNESS 

Our hearts go out to everyone affected by the Southern California fires, especially those who have lost 

their homes. We stand with the firefighters, local law enforcement and first responders who are 

courageously working to contain the fires and protect lives. 

The ongoing fire disasters in Southern California have been terrifying to witness and many people in the 

state have been impacted. It is also a powerful stimulus to our disaster liaisons to continue to train and 

plan for our community 

These are some observations from MWPA and Firewise leaders: 

Stop Being Surprised: Wildfires are predictable based on historical patterns. Surprise leads to panic, and 

panic results in poor decisions.  

Historical Context of Fires: Many significant fires, including the Tubbs Fire and Oakland Hills Fire, have 

repeated over decades due to predictable conditions. They will happen again.  

Year-Round Preparedness: Fires are no longer seasonal; they can occur any time of the year. Society 

must adapt to this reality. 

ACTIVITY 

There were 62 calls last year, a decrease compared to the prior years.  Over half (51%) of these calls 

were in our primary service area of our community, Green Gulch Farm and adjacent NPS areas such as 

the Overlook and Big Beach.  

We are working on maintenance of EMR certification with our paramedic trainer, Otis Guy.  We have 

completed CPR and skills training modules.  We have been trained on the use of our new Lucas 

automated CPR device and it is now on the engine.   

The donated AED devices are not yet in service due to a nationwide shortage of batteries. 

We are testing a new incident response app that will allow us to track firefighter availability in real time 

and manage reporting and statistics.  Stinson Beach Fire uses this app and recommended it to us 

recently. 

MERA radio updates and re programming are ongoing as is our training on the new system.  Our local 

MERA tower has made a big difference in reducing coastal dead zones – as we had hoped. 

David Taylor has successfully completed Driver/Operator 1A training this month along with other West 

Marin volunteers.  We are grateful to Bolinas Fire for organizing and facilitating this type of training. 

FIREHOUSE 

We are responding to a second round of requests from County planners regarding our permit 

application after a lengthy period of delay. 

Board Packet Page 25



FIREWISE 

Our Firewise group continues to do great work.  The renewal application was approved.  Several 

educational events and an evacuation drill are being planned.  Countywide chipper program statistics 

show that Muir Beach managed to be the 4th highest producer of chipped wood in the whole county.   

MWPA 

We are working on various MWPA committees to plan for the coming fiscal year.  See attached MWPA 

FY 23-24 Executive Summary for an overview of our work. 

We have invited MWPA staff to make a brief presentation this evening about important upcoming 

evacuation route clearance along HWY 1.  We have funding to do this work as well as the appropriate 

permits.  We will be coordinating with the adjacent homeowners very soon.  The vegetation reduction 

work is all expected to be in the CalTrans right of way. 

The Audobon Canyon Ranch/Terwilliger Grove hazard tree removal should be started this spring under 

the auspices of PG&E and MWPA. 

 

BBQ 

The kickoff meeting for this year’s BBQ will be announced soon. We hope everyone can help out and 

join us at the BBQ on Sunday May 25th. 

Chris Gove Chief MBVFD 

 

 

Board Packet Page 26



District Manager Report – January 2025 

Water, Fire, Recreation, Roads, Finance, and Communications 

 

General: 

Board of Directors – appointed Directors will be sworn in at the January 29 Board meeting.  The Marin County 

Elections office will provide each Director with an Oath of Office/Certificate of Appointment.  The Board will also 

elect new Board Officers for 2025. 

Remote meetings – the District will continue to hold remote meetings under the original Brown Act with special 

noticing provisions and posting requirements.  Public attendance continues to be higher when held remotely. 

District Manager – nothing specific to report. 

Water: 

Redwood Creek Stream Monitoring – heavy rains in December increased stream flows reaching the 7ft flood stage 

causing flooding our pumphouse.  Current stream flows are steady at 4.0 cfps, and stream height 1.07 ft. 

Water Reports – monthly Drought reports (DDR) are current and submitted through December 2024.   

State Waterboards Triennium Sanitary Survey – still waiting for final survey report which usually takes some time 

to receive.   

Marin Water Seasonal Intertie possibility – Supervisor Rodoni’s office and Marin Water representatives are still 

interested in seeing if an intertie can be a viable project.  Director Hills and I have sat in on several meetings to 

continue the discussion on the few remaining unresolved critical issues needed to move this project forward for 

another possible grant application cycle before the FLAP funded Frank Valley Road paving/improvement project 

begins summer 2026. 

Lower Tank property – a neighboring property owner is offering to pay to install a drainage pipe to carry the water 

that is discharged at the top corner of the Lower Tank property down the hill to tie into an already existing 

drainage system.  This project is on hold until this summer when the field has dried. 

Water infrastructure under CSD Footbridge – have been discussing with Water Team and Fire Chief options for 

raising the electrical and water pipes underneath the footbridge to make them less vulnerable during creek 

flooding events and also with Cuco for interim protection until a permanent fix can be implemented. 

Main Valve replacements – three very old (1965) failing valves at the Ahab Wye have now been replaced.  I will 

get quotes to replace the frozen valves located at the Starbuck extension and additionally at Starbuck/Seacape 

intersection for replacement this fiscal year. 

Water Rate Study – have begun the process of evaluating our Water Operations budget for recommendations for 

the renewal of this year’s Water Rate Ordinance.  So far it looks like a maximum of a 20% water increase would be 

needed to fill the ongoing shortfall from declining water usage along with renewing the 5-year annual April CPI 

increase for another five years. 

Cross Connection Plan – starting to research the new SWB requirement that requires development of a District 

Cross Connection Ordinance and Initial Hazard Assessment by a Certified Cross Connection specialist followed by a 

detailed Cross Connection Plan and ongoing maintenance Program.  This could prove to be a very expensive SWB 

initiative. 

Board Packet Page 27



Fire: 

Firehouse – the building permit for the firehouse is in progress and we have now received the EHS permit for the 

septic holding tank in record time.  I am currently looking into completing the Septic Holding Tank Operating 

Permit application.  MBVFA grant report to-date is that we have received a total of $340,000 from the VFA since 

2018.  We have spent a total of $82,047.58 on soft costs (such as Civil Engineering, Building permit, Septic Holding 

Tank Engineering, Septic permit, CalGreen Checklist, and Geotechnical review) and are currently working on the 

septic operating permit. The current balance in the MBVFA firehouse grant account is $257,952.42 plus an 

additional $100,000 received from the County grant. 

Measure C – working with the Fire Chief to determine spring vegetation clearing projects. 

MWPA  –  grant funding was approved to clear the fuel load on the Highway 1 southbound evacuation corridor 

and Banducci projects, along with the Audubon Canyon Ranch (ACR) Pacific Way property, and have now made it 

through the permitting process.  The MBCSD will reconsider the possible transfer of the property from ACR to 

MBCSD once dangerous trees have been removed. 

Recreation: 

MB Community Center – started looking into how to replace the several deck curtains that were torn up in the 

past winter windstorms.  It seems that the current curtains were made and installed by a sail cover maker in 

Sausalito who is likely not still alive.  Several options have been suggested and will be brought before the Board at 

the January meeting.  Aside from the initial installation cost of any possible solution, maintenance and ease of use 

should be considered.  The previous canvas deck curtains were difficult for CC users and resident renters to put up 

and down and would also break free of their tiedowns such that the rivetted edges would fly up and hit the edges 

of the deck glass causing cracking. 

Prop 68 Per Capita Recreation grant – we have now finished the civil and structural engineering for the west-

section of CC Parking project (phase 2) and geotechnical review. The Coastal Permit covers both sides of the CC 

Parking Project, so will submit for building and encroachment permits.  We have until 2028 to complete. 

Measure A – currently being used to help backfill Prop 68 CC parking project and will pay for the deck curtain 

replacements at the CC.  It has also been budgeted to improve the trail and stairs from Sunset down to Cove Lane 

this year. 

Parks and Trails –the Sunset to Pacific drainage box has now been lined with aluminum sheeting with new 

stronger top screening and new barrier added for loose dirt protection.  Also, am currently getting a quote to have 

the trail from Sunset to Cove Lane improvements.  Windblown brush and debris have been cleared from trails 

after storms and gravel will be added to the bottom of the Seacape to Sunset trail to help make it less slick when 

wet. 

Roads: 

Pacific Way Bridge – helped coordinate the communication between residents, our Fire Chief, and County staff to 

get a large pile of lodged logs and debris located on the upstream side of the PWB removed by County DPW. 

Lagoon Drive – (still pending) we received an estimate from Rodas for the cost to raise the road 18” higher, which 

the Board approved at the May 22 Board meeting, so the scheduling plan for the project is to be coordinated with 

the Firehouse project hopefully this spring or summer. 

Communications:  

Cybersecurity Committee – I continue to receive and review our CISA weekly IP scanning reports. 

Board Packet Page 28



Website – as always, continuing to update pages, post routine documents, and do security updates. 

Muir Beach Directory – currently updated thru 1/20/25 and posted on the website ‘Contact and Links’ page. 

Finance: 

Email – Anythingemail.com where the district’s Domaine Name is registered is ending service in February so we 

will need to find a new home.  GoDaddy is one possibility – will research others. 

Audits – 6.30.24 draft-audit posted on the website for review and approval at the January 29 Board meeting. 

District Office Business – the DM laptop is now 8-years old, and our computer technician says that Windows will 

stop supporting the current version in October of 2025, so am starting to look at replacement.  As always, I am 

continuing to process all District mail and work with Sharry to make sure payroll timesheets, routine/event 

reimbursements, Credit Card expenditures, incoming payments and outgoing checks are all processed and 

expedited between agencies, employees, and vendors promptly. 

Respectfully submitted,  

Mary Halley 

MBCSD District Manager 

Board Packet Page 29



Water Operations Summary - FY2019 - FY2024 

Below is a summary of the data being considered for the water rate calculation for a potential water rate increase 
starting 7/16/2025.  For the last 2 years, our operation expenses that are paid through our water service fees have 
had a net deficit of 17.1% and 22.0% respectively.  This year’s budget estimates the deficit to be 18.6%.  The 
current inflation rate is at about 2.8%, so we would be looking at trying to add that to the current projected deficit of 
18.6%, which would bring the possible rate adjustment to somewhere between 20% – 22% for this coming FY 
2025-26 to breakeven for water operations.  The revenue deficit seems to be mainly due to a 27.7% decline in water 
usage seemingly as a result of permanent water conservation measure (see Water Usage table below). This is also 
the last year of the 5-year annual CPI adjustment, so being as it did help moderate the deficit a bit, it seems 
important to recommend approval to extend the annual CPI increase for another 5-year period (2026-30).  The Pipe 
and Equipment reserve that can only be spent on Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) is now starting to generate 
enough to start doing the critical necessary valve replacements in the upper zone, and the LT reserve will hopefully 
keep us on tract to be able to self-finance the LT replacement when the time comes (a long -term goal), but also 
has given the district (both General and Water) a place to borrow interest free funds when we need to bridge 
unexpected expenses.  Both CIP Reserves are funded solely through the Meter Charge and not Water Service Fees. 

 

 

Water Revenue
Water rate increase by year

Year 0 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Notes:

7/16/2019 7/16/2020 7/16/2021 7/16/2022 7/16/2023 7/16/2024

CPI (April) 0.0% 1.1% 3.8% 5.0% 4.2% 3.80%  17.9 % CPI increases over 5-year period

Meter Reading 7.90$                   8.13$                 8.24$                  8.65$                     9.02$                   9.36$                     

Meter CIP 70.83$                71.60$               74.32$               78.04$                   81.31$                 84.40$                   

Meter CIP (1.5") 354.17$              358.04$            371.64$             390.22$                406.61$              422.06$                 

Vol p/100 gals 2.00$                   2.02$                 2.09$                  2.19$                     2.29$                   2.37$                     

Estimated Budget

FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25

Revenues

Service fees 132,252.00$     168,756.00$    120,360.00$    107,827.00$        106,430.00$      114,830.00$       

Year to year % -$                     27.60% -28.60% -10.40% -1.20%

4-year trend % -19.50% Decrease in revenues 19.5% even with CPI rate increases

Op Expenses

Dedicated 97,717.00$        83,849.00$      75,223.00$       79,067.00$          80,675.00$        84,283.00$          

Allocated 40,809.00$        43,434.00$      45,021.00$       47,221.00$          49,155.00$        51,916.00$          

Total: 138,526.00$     127,283.00$    120,244.00$    126,288.00$        129,830.00$      136,199.00$       

Year to year % 0% -8.1% -5.5% 5.0% -2.8% Expenses vary from year to year, but trend shows costs are 

4-year trend % -6.2% fairly stable and not out of control

Net Income: (6,274.00)$         41,473.00$      116.00$             (18,461.00)$         (23,400.00)$       (21,369.00)$        Net loss in operating income seems to be due to declining 

Deficit % 4.8% 0% 17.1% 22.0% 18.6% revenue and not the marginal increases in expenses

*current 2025 inflation around 2.8% - recommend 20% -22% rate 

increase for 7/16/2025 then renew 5-year CPI thru 2030

CIP Reserves 78,202.00$        69,272.00$      74,835.00$       75,714.00$          79,394.00$        

Pipes & Equip

P&E Revenues 24,252.00$        29,272.00$      32,242.00$       35,714.00$          39,394.00$        43,000.00$          Prop 218 allows us only to use Meter charges for CIP.  This 

P&E Spending (20,899.00)$      (24,764.00)$     -$                    (16,750.00)$         -$                     (60,000.00)$        year we are wanting to continue replacing many of the frozen

P&E Res Balance: 3,353.00$          7,861.00$         40,374.00$       59,339.00$          98,732.00$        81,735.00$          valves (installed in 1965) in the upper zone.

LT Reserve

Revenues 33,334.00$        40,000.00$      40,000.00$       40,000.00$          40,000.00$        40,000.00$          Prop 218 allows the district to save for future CIP improvements

Res Balance: 33,334.00$        73,334.00$      113,334.00$    153,334.00$        193,334.00$      233,334.00$       which is separate from operating income, so we will need to renew

the LT Reserve this year to keep saving for its ultimate replacement.

Water Usage

Gallons FY19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY22-23 FY23-24

16-Jul 1,605,182            1,791,120         1,457,076        1,298,440         1,243,651       

16-Sep 1,759,424            1,835,229         1,307,513        1,356,867         1,366,353       

16-Nov 1,445,495            1,543,034         1,054,348        1,078,519         1,149,874       

16-Jan 1,152,721            1,347,031         896,267            965,019            1,025,390       

16-Mar 1,175,143            1,072,051         1,131,191        880,950            789,221           

16-May 1,416,845            1,524,898         1,128,409        1,238,750         1,009,960       

Total Gallons: 8,554,810            9,113,363         6,974,804        6,818,545         6,584,449       

Year to Year 6.5% -23.5% -2.2% -3.4%

4-year Trend -27.7%

Board Packet Page 30


	MBCSD January 29 2025 Regular Meeting Agenda
	2024-12 Financial Reports
	Minutes_Draft_2024-10-10
	FIRE_DEPARTMENT REPORT_Jan 2025
	DM Report for 1-29-25 Mary
	Water Operations Summary - Jan 2025



